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HMRs, or FMCCRs. The Notice of Vio-

lation serves as an informal mecha-

nism to address compliance defi-

ciencies. If the alleged deficiency is not 

addressed to the satisfaction of the 

Agency, formal enforcement action 

may be taken in accordance with para-

graph (c) of this section. A Notice of 

Violation is not a prerequisite to the 

issuance of a Notice of Claim. The No-

tice of Violation will address the fol-

lowing issues, as appropriate: 

(1) The specific alleged violations. 

(2) Any specific actions the Agency 

determines are appropriate to remedy 

the identified problems. 

(3) The means by which the notified 

person can inform the Agency that it 

has received the Notice of Violation 

and either has addressed the alleged 

violation or does not agree with the 

Agency’s assertions in the Notice of 

Violation. 

(4) Any other relevant information. 

(c) Civil penalty proceedings. These 

proceedings are commenced by the 

issuance of a Notice of Claim. 

(1) Each Notice of Claim must con-

tain the following: 

(i) A statement setting forth the 

facts alleged. 

(ii) A statement of the provisions of 

law allegedly violated by the respond-

ent. 

(iii) The proposed civil penalty and 

notice of the maximum amount au-

thorized to be claimed under statute. 

(iv) The time, form, and manner 

whereby the respondent may pay, con-

test, or otherwise seek resolution of 

the claim. 

(2) In addition to the information re-

quired by paragraph (c)(1) of this sec-

tion, the Notice of Claim may contain 

such other matters as the Agency 

deems appropriate. 

(3) In proceedings for collection of 

civil penalties for violations of the 

motor carrier safety regulations under 

the Motor Carrier Safety Act of 1984, 

the Agency may require the respondent 

to post a copy of the Notice of Claim in 

such place or places and for such dura-

tion as the Agency may determine ap-

propriate to aid in the enforcement of 

the law and regulations. 

[50 FR 40306, Oct. 2, 1985, as amended at 53 FR 

2036, Jan. 26, 1988; 56 FR 10182, Mar. 11, 1991; 

65 FR 7756, Feb. 16, 2000; 70 FR 28480, May 18, 

2005; 78 FR 58481, Sept. 24, 2013; 86 FR 57071, 

Oct. 14, 2021] 

§ 386.12 Complaints. 

(a) Complaint of substantial violation. 
(1) Any person alleging that a substan-

tial violation of any regulation issued 

under the Motor Carrier Safety Act of 

1984 is occurring or has occurred must 

file a written complaint with FMCSA 

stating the substance of the alleged 

substantial violation no later than 90 

days after the event. The written com-

plaint, including the information 

below, must be filed with the National 

Consumer Complaint Database at 

http://nccdb.fmcsa.dot.gov or any FMCSA 
Division Administrator. The Agency will 
refer the complaint to the Division Ad-
ministrator who the Agency believes is 
best able to handle the complaint. In-
formation on filing a written com-
plaint may be obtained by calling 1– 
800–DOT–SAFT (1–800–368–7238). A sub-
stantial violation is one which could 
reasonably lead to, or has resulted in, 
serious personal injury or death. Each 
complaint must be signed by the com-
plainant and must contain: 

(i) The name, address, and telephone 
number of the person who files it; 

(ii) The name and address of the al-
leged violator and, with respect to each 
alleged violator, the specific provisions 
of the regulations that the complain-
ant believes were violated; and 

(iii) A concise but complete state-
ment of the facts relied upon to sub-
stantiate each allegation, including 
the date of each alleged violation. 

(2) Upon the filing of a complaint of 
a substantial violation under para-
graph (a)(1) of this section, the Divi-
sion Administrator shall determine 
whether the complaint is non-frivolous 
and meets the requirements of para-
graph (a)(1) of this section. If the Divi-
sion Administrator determines the 
complaint is non-frivolous and meets 
the requirements of paragraph (a)(1), 
the Division Administrator shall inves-
tigate the complaint. The complainant 
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shall be timely notified of findings re-
sulting from the investigation. The Di-
vision Administrator shall not be re-
quired to conduct separate investiga-
tions of duplicative complaints. If the 
Division Administrator determines the 
complaint is frivolous or does not meet 
the requirements of paragraph (a)(1), 
the Division Administrator shall dis-
miss the complaint and notify the com-
plainant in writing of the reasons for 
the dismissal. 

(3) Notwithstanding the provisions of 
5 U.S.C. 552, the Division Adminis-
trator shall not disclose the identity of 
complainants unless it is determined 
that such disclosure is necessary to 
prosecute a violation. If disclosure be-
comes necessary, the Division Adminis-
trator shall take every practical means 
within the Division Administrator’s 
authority to ensure that the complain-
ant is not subject to coercion, harass-
ment, intimidation, disciplinary ac-
tion, discrimination, or financial loss 
as a result of such disclosure. 

(b) Complaint of harassment. (1) A 
driver alleging a violation of 
§ 390.36(b)(1) of this subchapter (harass-
ment) must file a written complaint 
with FMCSA stating the substance of 
the alleged harassment by a motor car-
rier no later than 90 days after the 
event. The written complaint, includ-
ing the information described below, 
must be filed with the National Con-
sumer Complaint Database at http:// 
nccdb.fmcsa.dot.gov or the FMCSA Divi-
sion Administrator for the State where 
the driver is employed. The Agency 
may refer a complaint to another Divi-
sion Administrator who the Agency be-
lieves is best able to handle the com-
plaint. Information on filing a written 
complaint may be obtained by calling 
1–800–DOT–SAFT (1–800–368–7238). Each 
complaint must be signed by the driver 
and must contain: 

(i) The driver’s name, address, and 
telephone number; 

(ii) The name and address of the 
motor carrier allegedly harassing the 
driver; and 

(iii) A concise but complete state-
ment of the facts relied upon to sub-
stantiate each allegation of harass-
ment, including: 

(A) How the ELD or other technology 
used in combination with and not sepa-

rable from the ELD was used to con-
tribute to harassment; 

(B) The date of the alleged action; 
and 

(C) How the motor carrier’s action 
violated either § 392.3 or part 395. 

Each complaint may include any sup-
porting evidence that will assist the 
Division Administrator in determining 
the merits of the complaint. 

(2) Upon the filing of a complaint of 
a violation under paragraph (b)(1) of 
this section, the appropriate Division 
Administrator shall determine whether 
the complaint is non-frivolous and 
meets the requirements of paragraph 
(b)(1) of this section. 

(i) If the Division Administrator de-
termines the complaint is non-frivo-
lous and meets the requirements of 
paragraph (b)(1) of this section, the Di-
vision Administrator shall investigate 
the complaint. The complaining driver 
shall be timely notified of findings re-
sulting from the investigation. The Di-
vision Administrator shall not be re-
quired to conduct separate investiga-
tions of duplicative complaints. 

(ii) If the Division Administrator de-
termines the complaint is frivolous or 
does not meet the requirements of 
paragraph (b)(1) of this section, the Di-
vision Administrator shall dismiss the 
complaint and notify the complainant 
in writing of the reasons for the dis-
missal. 

(3) Because prosecution of harass-
ment in violation of § 390.36(b)(1) of this 
subchapter will require disclosure of 
the driver’s identity, the Agency shall 
take every practical means within its 
authority to ensure that the driver is 
not subject to coercion, harassment, 
intimidation, disciplinary action, dis-
crimination, or financial loss as a re-
sult of the disclosure. This will include 
notification that 49 U.S.C. 31105 in-
cludes broad employee protections and 
that retaliation for filing a harassment 
complaint may subject the motor car-
rier to enforcement action by the Occu-
pational Safety and Health Adminis-
tration. 

(c) Complaint of coercion. (1) A driver 
alleging a violation of § 390.6(a)(1) or (2) 
of this subchapter must file a written 
complaint with FMCSA stating the 
substance of the alleged coercion no 
later than 90 days after the event. The 
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written complaint, including the infor-
mation described below, must be filed 
with the National Consumer Complaint 
Database at http://nccdb.fmcsa.dot.gov or 
the FMCSA Division Administrator for 
the State where the driver is employed. 
The Agency may refer a complaint to 
another Division Administrator who 
the Agency believes is best able to han-
dle the complaint. Information on fil-
ing a written complaint may be ob-
tained by calling 1–800–DOT–SAFT (1– 
800–368–7238). Each complaint must be 
signed by the driver and must contain: 

(i) The driver’s name, address, and 
telephone number; 

(ii) The name and address of the per-
son allegedly coercing the driver; 

(iii) The provisions of the regulations 
that the driver alleges he or she was 
coerced to violate; and 

(iv) A concise but complete state-
ment of the facts relied upon to sub-
stantiate each allegation of coercion, 
including the date of each alleged vio-
lation. 

(2) Action on complaint of coercion. 
Upon the filing of a complaint of coer-
cion under paragraph (c)(1) of this sec-
tion, the appropriate Division Adminis-
trator shall determine whether the 
complaint is non-frivolous and meets 
the requirements of paragraph (c)(1). 

(i) If the Division Administrator de-
termines that the complaint is non- 
frivolous and meets the requirements 
of paragraph (c)(1) of this section, the 
Division Administrator shall inves-
tigate the complaint. The complaining 
driver shall be timely notified of find-
ings resulting from such investigation. 
The Division Administrator shall not 
be required to conduct separate inves-
tigations of duplicative complaints. 

(ii) If the Division Administrator de-
termines the complaint is frivolous or 
does not meet the requirements of 
paragraph (c)(1) of this section, the Di-
vision Administrator shall dismiss the 
complaint and notify the driver in 
writing of the reasons for the dis-
missal. 

(3) Protection of complainants. Because 
prosecution of coercion in violation of 
§ 390.6 of this subchapter will require 
disclosure of the driver’s identity, the 
Agency shall take every practical 
means within its authority to ensure 
that the driver is not subject to coer-

cion, harassment, intimidation, dis-
ciplinary action, discrimination, or fi-
nancial loss as a result of the disclo-
sure. This will include notification 
that 49 U.S.C. 31105 includes broad em-
ployee protections and that retaliation 
for filing a coercion complaint may 
subject the alleged coercer to enforce-
ment action by the Occupational Safe-
ty and Health Administration. 

[80 FR 78381, Dec. 16, 2015] 

§ 386.13 Petitions to review and re-
quest for hearing: Driver qualifica-
tion proceedings. 

(a) Within 60 days after service of the 
determination under § 391.47 of this 
chapter or the letter of disqualifica-
tion, the driver or carrier may petition 
to review such action. Such petitions 
must be submitted to the Assistant Ad-
ministrator and must contain the fol-
lowing: 

(1) Identification of what action the 
petitioner wants overturned; 

(2) Copies of all evidence upon which 
petitioner relies in the form set out in 
§ 386.49; 

(3) All legal and other arguments 
which the petitioner wishes to make in 
support of his/her position; 

(4) A request for oral hearing, if one 
is desired, which must set forth mate-
rial factual issues believed to be in dis-
pute; 

(5) Certification that the petition has 
been filed in accordance with § 386.6(c); 
and 

(6) Any other pertinent material. 
(b) Failure to submit a petition as 

specified in paragraph (a) of this sec-
tion shall constitute a waiver of the 
right to petition for review of the de-
termination or letter of disqualifica-
tion. In these cases, the determination 
or disqualification issued automati-
cally becomes the final decision of the 
Assistant Administrator 30 days after 
the time to submit the reply or peti-
tion to review has expired, unless the 
Assistant Administrator orders other-
wise. 

(c) If the petition does not request a 
hearing, the Assistant Administrator 
may issue a final decision and order 
based on the evidence and arguments 
submitted. 

[50 FR 40306, Oct. 2, 1985, as amended at 78 FR 
58481, Sept. 24, 2013] 
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